WHAT MAKES A PARTNERSHIP WORK?

Dr. Rose Asera Dr. Robert Gabriner Dr. David Hemphill

March 2017

Table of Contents

Executive Summary	3
An Exploration of Educational Partnerships	3
Research Findings	3
Research Methodology	5
Utilizing This Report	5
Introduction	7
Purpose of This Report	7
What Are Cross-Sector Educational Partnerships?	8
A Study of Two Partnerships	8
Five Key Themes	9
Organization of This Report	9
Overview of the Two Case Studies	11
The Long Beach College Promise	
Crossing "The Dime": The Inland Empire Partnership	14
Key Findings: Lessons from the Field	17
Leadership	
Understanding Change	22
Relationships	29
Effective Use of Evidence and Data	
Organizational Coherence	34
Conclusion	38
Appendix A: Methodology	39
Research Methods and Activities	39
Research Team	40
Appendix B: Key Elements of Partnership Frameworks	41
References	
Publications	
Online Resources	

Executive Summary

An Exploration of Educational Partnerships

This report compares the experiences of two regional cross-sector educational partnerships in California—the Long Beach College Promise and the Inland Empire partnership in San Bernardino and Riverside Counties—that are building educational pathways to support student success in higher education. The initial catalyst for this study was the Governor's Incentive Award (GIA), established in the California Governor's 2014 budget. The awards were aimed to support educational partnerships comprising schools, community colleges, and universities.

In this context, the College Futures Foundation commissioned a comparative case study in order to gain insights into strategies for developing and sustaining multi-sector partnerships that are positioned to increase student success along the educational pipeline from high school to degree achievement. The main goals for this study were the following:

- Learn about the reasons for which the case study institutions opted for a partnership strategy
- Understand how partnerships evolve and grow to scale
- Discover how the partnerships pursued their goals
- Explore the role of investment by external funders in promoting cross-sector partnerships

In order to gather as broad an understanding as possible of the components of successful intersegmental educational partnerships, two very different partnerships were examined. The Long Beach College Promise—which comprises the Long Beach Unified School District, Long Beach City College, and California State University, Long Beach—has been in existence for approximately two decades. In contrast, the Inland Empire partnership—bringing together K-12 school districts, community colleges, universities, and other organizations across San Bernardino and Riverside Counties—was recently launched in 2015.

These two initiatives differ not only in their longevity, but in the strengths of the partnerships as well as the challenges they face. For example, the Long Beach College Promise operates within a single, relatively economically stable county that houses only one institution representing each educational sector. The Inland Empire partnership, however, unites two counties and numerous institutions in one of the poorest areas of the country.

Research Findings

Despite the historical, structural, and environmental differences characterizing these two educational partnerships, a number of factors common to each were discovered. Drawing from extensive investigation into these partnerships, as well as a thorough literature review, key themes were identified with respect to how effective partnerships are created and sustained over the long term. These themes address five particular components of launching and maintaining educational partnerships.

THEME 1: LEADERSHIP

A partnership's leadership needs to be informed first and foremost by clear moral imperatives that drive the partnership's mission to improve student success. Additionally, partnership leaders must be guided by an existential imperative propelled by the need to ensure the continued existence of its institutions and regional community. Leadership in successful partnerships also effectively engages both executive-level leaders, who can provide the overall vision for the partnership and have the authority to make institution-wide changes, as well as middle-level leaders, who offer an on-the-ground perspective and have the capacity to engage faculty and staff in actually implementing new policies and practices on a day-to-day basis.

Furthermore, in order for partnerships to thrive, they need the support of "backbone" organizations" that can facilitate the logistics of the partnership. Finally, meaningful succession planning is critical to a partnership's long-term success, ensuring that the goals, strategies, and practices of the partnership do not die out with the departure of any single individual from the initiative.

THEME 2: UNDERSTANDING CHANGE

Change is a complex and multi-faceted process, one that must at times take place in the context of both institutions' and individuals' tendency to favor the status quo and regard new ideas with skepticism or even resistance. As such, leaders must understand how change processes work in order to both develop and maintain intersegmental educational partnerships.

Research in this study has revealed that meaningful implementation of change often includes drawing from multiple disciplines to identify strategic frameworks that can introduce innovative ways of guiding and structuring partnerships, as well as learning from the successes and challenges of partnerships in other regions while still leveraging local assets. Additionally, change in educational systems frequently requires the difficult task of implementing curricular and instructional reform in order to both boost student outcomes at specific institutions and, ultimately, move students seamlessly through an educational pathway ending in the achievement of degrees and/or entry into desired careers. Finally, partnerships that benefit from a meaningful understanding of change are able to effectively cultivate the resources necessary to promote that change, such as external grant funding, as well as find ways to incentivize change at the institutional and practitioner level.

THEME 3: RELATIONSHIPS

In order to build and sustain a successful partnership, leaders must be able to engage a variety of stakeholders and build long-term relationships and coalitions among them. The most important aspects of these relationships include the establishment of a strong foundation of trust among all stakeholders, the development of a common language that facilitates productive communication, and the utilization of strategies that bridge communication gaps across institutions and sectors.

THEME 4: EFFECTIVE USE OF EVIDENCE AND DATA

Evidence and data are vital components for both making the case for partnerships to stakeholders and guiding partnerships' strategic directions. In particular, members of partnerships must first develop the capacity to generate and analyze internal data, enabling them to develop and share a

nuanced understanding of the key issues at hand, such as which students are thriving, which students are struggling, and where students are encountering obstacles to reaching their goals. Furthermore, it is critical that data be shared across the partnership, not only to identify the strengths and challenges of the initiative, but also to monitor progress toward the partnership's objectives and enact thoughtful course corrections when necessary.

THEME 5: ORGANIZATIONAL COHERENCE

Finally, partnership leaders have to understand how reforms and improvements fit together to enhance organizational coherence for the students who must navigate through multiple institutions as well as for other stakeholders. To accomplish this, partnerships must be guided by long-term strategies that take into account both the big picture and daily realities in order to craft a successful unified effort. Moreover, these strategies must be flexible and adaptable so that the partnership is fully equipped to adjust to changing times and conditions over the course of its implementation.

Research Methodology

To conduct this study, three researchers with deep backgrounds in K-12 and higher education, specifically in California, were engaged to undertake an extensive literature review and conduct site visits at the institutions involved in both the Long Beach and Inland Empire partnerships. After eight months of interviews, site visits, examination of student academic data, discussion, and more discussion, the researchers asked, "What did we learn about starting and sustaining partnerships?"

In order to process this wealth of data and begin to note themes across the partnerships, the researchers started with insights found in partnership research literature, through which they identified seven types of features correlated with successful partnerships (see Appendix B). After factoring in the results of the site visits and interviews, they then "reinvented" the seven categories, morphing them into five themes associated with successfully starting a partnership ("starters") and four associated with sustaining one ("sustainers"). By further considering existing research literature and comparing and contrasting the two regional cases, these nine starter and sustainer factors were ultimately collapsed into the five key findings that are explored in-depth in this report.

Utilizing This Report

This report provides a cross-case analysis of the two partnerships studied in order to help those who are engaged in intersegmental education partnerships throughout the country understand some of the essential elements of starting partnerships as well as activities that are critical to sustaining them. This study can be used to inform not only public and private funders interested in accelerating student success, but also institutional leaders, education practitioners, education researchers, and partner organizations at the regional level, including local government, employers, and civic organizations.

Given the substantial complexities involved in forming cross-sector educational partnerships, the level to which insights and findings can be generalized is somewhat limited. The process of

shaping a partnership across different institutions, led by different individuals, cannot be condensed down to a single step-by-step recipe. Nonetheless, broad patterns of successful and sustainable partnerships can be determined, and the power of those patterns emerges in the ways they are adapted to local settings.

A detailed description of the two case studies, including an exploration of how the starter and sustainer factors have played out in each region, can be found in the companion to this cross-analysis, *Starting and Sustaining Educational Partnerships: Two Case Studies of Intersegmental Innovation in California*.

Introduction

Purpose of This Report

BACKGROUND AND GOALS

This report compares the experiences of two regional cross-sector partnerships in California—the Long Beach College Promise and the Inland Empire partnership in San Bernardino and Riverside Counties—that are building educational pathways to support student success in higher education. The initial catalyst for this study was the Governor's Incentive Award (GIA), established in the California Governor's 2014 budget. The awards were aimed to support educational partnerships comprising schools, community colleges, and universities.

In this context, the College Futures Foundation commissioned these comparative case studies in order to gain insights into strategies for developing and sustaining multi-sector partnerships that are positioned to increase student success along the educational pipeline from high school to degree achievement.

The main goals for this study were the following:

- Learn about the reasons for which the case study institutions opted for a partnership strategy
- Understand how partnerships evolve and grow to scale
- Discover how the partnerships pursued their goals
- Explore the role of investment by external funders in promoting cross-sector partnerships

HOW CAN THIS REPORT BE UTILIZED?

This report provides a cross-case analysis of the two partnerships studied in order to help those who are engaged in intersegmental education partnerships throughout the country understand some of the essential elements for starting partnerships as well as activities that are critical to sustaining them. The study can be used to inform not only public and private funders interested in accelerating student success, but also institutional leaders, education practitioners, education researchers, and partner organizations at the regional level, including local government, employers, and civic organizations.

The case study method is a particularly useful tool for uncovering insights into the details and complexities of developing a partnership. In descriptions of a specific case, the narrative of time and events offers an understanding of how decisions were made and what influenced those decisions. Depicting processes in specific settings can help stakeholders in different locations reflect on similarities to and differences from their own settings. This in turn can raise questions about how the particulars of those settings can influence the ways in which general partnership strategies can be effectively implemented locally.

Given the substantial complexities involved in forming cross-sector educational partnerships, the level to which insights and findings can be generalized is somewhat limited. The process of shaping a partnership across different institutions, led by different individuals, cannot be

condensed down to a single step-by-step recipe. Nonetheless, broad patterns of successful and sustainable partnerships can be determined, and the power of those patterns emerges in the ways they are adapted to local settings.

What Are Cross-Sector Educational Partnerships?

The development of partnerships that cross education segments is a strategy that extends resources and represents a promising avenue for improving students' academic and career outcomes. These initiatives, some of which have adopted a "collective impact" label, are organized at the school district, city, county, or metropolitan level. They attempt to improve education by promoting collaboration across multiple segments of the education pathway that extends from kindergarten to bachelor's degree achievement.

Effective collaboration in practice can lead to not only enhanced student outcomes, but also more effective organizational strategies. Bringing together educators from different institutions that serve students from the same community offers the chance to identify common perspectives and commitments, rather than focus on differences (Henig, et al., 2015; Kania & Kramer, 2011; Moor et al., 2015).

Although public- and privately-funded programs have over the years encouraged intersegmental partnership in different ways, there are still open questions with respect to what makes some partnerships work while others fail to take hold and/or thrive over the long term. As noted earlier, there is no simple formula for what makes a partnership work. Yet case examples from the field are well worth exploring to learn about effective approaches to leveraging partnerships in order to enhance student success in widely differing settings.

A Study of Two Partnerships

Two regional partnerships were selected for investigation in this study precisely because they differ dramatically in size, history, and other factors. They were both recently funded with \$5 million-dollar Governor's Innovation Awards.

The first partnership studied, California's Long Beach College Promise, covers the relatively compact geographical area of a single city in the greater Los Angeles area with a very diverse population. It brings together three strong institutions: Long Beach Unified School District (LBUSD), Long Beach City College (LBCC), and California State University, Long Beach (CSU-LB). The partnership has a history of over 20 years, and it is well known regionally, statewide, and nationally for its impact on student success. Although the Long Beach partnership story has been told many times, this case study focused specifically on understanding the life cycle of the partnership and how it has changed over time.

The second case study focused on the San Bernardino-Riverside (or "Inland Empire") two-county partnership, which covers a landmass in southeastern California that is larger than some states in the U.S., encompassing 27,000 square miles and a population of 4.4 million people. It is also one of the poorest regions in the country. This partnership is a new one in its current configuration, though it builds upon multiple prior sub-regional efforts. The partnership is organizationally complex; it features 58 K-12 school districts, 11 community colleges, two

universities, and leaders from the private sector and county government. In 2015, the partnership concluded its first year of development.

There were several reasons for selecting these two particular partnerships for study. First, these partnerships reflect two very different regional contexts in terms of size, complexity, population, and local history. Second, the two partnerships are at deeply contrasting stages of development—the Inland Empire partnership is at the beginning of its formation, while the Long Beach effort is over 20 years old. As such, there is much to be learned from both the well-documented successes that the Long Beach partnership has experienced as well as the initial efforts being undertaken in the Inland Empire.

Five Key Themes

These studies were conducted by a team of researchers engaged by the College Futures Foundation who collectively brought decades of experience in multiple educational sectors to the project. After eight months of interviews, site visits, examination of student academic data, discussion, and more discussion, the researchers asked, "What did we learn about starting and sustaining partnerships?"

They began their analysis by identifying seven common themes from literature addressing educational partnerships (see the Appendix for more details). After conducting this foundational research and reexamining the literature, they found what Michael Fullan called "a remarkable convergence of theories, knowledge bases, ideas, and strategies." Building upon the literature and blending it with the researchers' findings, five key themes emerged—essential components to both initiating and sustaining an effective educational partnership that brings together the strengths of partnership members in an efficient, combined effort and enhances student success. These five themes comprise the following:

- 1. A partnership's leadership needs to be informed by clear moral imperatives.
- 2. Leaders must **understand how change processes work** within specific institutions and partnerships.
- 3. Leaders must be able to engage a variety of stakeholders and **build long-term** relationships and coalitions among them.
- 4. **Evidence and data** are vital components for both making the case for the partnership to stakeholders and informing the partnership's strategic directions.
- 5. Partnership leaders have to **understand how reforms and improvements fit together to enhance organizational coherence** for the stakeholders and the students who must navigate through multiple institutions.

Organization of This Report

This report offers a cross-case analysis of common themes that integrates data from the two case studies that investigated the partnerships of Long Beach and the Inland Empire. The report

begins with a brief summary of the two case studies. Next, the report looks across these two studies and explores in depth the five themes that emerged from the extensive research process, describing how each of these themes was realized in the Long Beach and the Inland Empire partnerships. Following, a description of the research methodology used in this project as well as a description of the research team members is provided. Finally, the report's Appendix B provides more information about the literature that was reviewed during the research process.

.

¹ A complete, detailed description of the individual case studies conducted is provided in a separate report entitled *Starting and Sustaining Educational Partnership: Two Case Studies of Intersegmental Innovation in California.*

Overview of the Two Case Studies

The Long Beach College Promise

The hard part is that there is no easy solution. People have to get comfortable with trying things, and failing, and having the ability to see things through over periods of years, not periods of weeks, or months, semesters. In between all that, there is a lot of messiness.

—Eloy Oakley, President of Long Beach City College

EVOLUTION OF THE PARTNERSHIP

The Long Beach area's history, which includes more than 20 years of educational collaboration and partnership, provides significant insight into the lifecycle of an educational partnership. The development of a partnership does not take place along a linear progression. This cross-institutional collaboration began in 1994 with the launch of the Long Beach Seamless Education Partnership, which ultimately evolved into the Long Beach College Promise in 2008. The Promise built on the initial collaboration and focused on college access, providing guaranteed entry to CSU-LB or an initial tuition-free semester at LBCC. The current work of the Promise now includes building disciplinary and career pathways so that students can progress unhindered through the three educational systems in the region (Long Beach Unified School District, Long Beach City College, and CSU, Long Beach).

Although the story of this partnership's development can seem straightforward and logical in its retelling, the experience of creating it was not. The Long Beach partnership has been shaped by changes in the region's economic context, introduction of new leaders, and emergence of new opportunities. Although the central commitment to student success and the community at large has never altered, the ways in which that commitment has been enacted have developed and changed over time.

Today, collaboration has become part of the culture of the schools and colleges in Long Beach—it is the way that educators work together. A vice president at LBCC described how the partnership has blurred traditional boundaries and developed shared commitment:

[W]hen we sit in a room, I care as much about the needs of Long Beach Unified and Cal State Long Beach as I do about what ... we're trying to achieve at Long Beach City [College]. It's that level of really [believing that] we own students across the three institutions. We have conversations about what meets the needs of all three. ... I think it's ... [about] believing that we're only successful if we are all successful.

STARTING POINT: THE LONG BEACH SEAMLESS EDUCATION PARTNERSHIP

In 1992, facing economic shifts, demographic changes, and increasing local unrest, the mayor of the city of Long Beach brought people together. Leaders in the civic, business, and education arenas were invited to create a Community Partnership in order to foster economic development, education development, and public safety. The education partnership was seen as a vital

component to both mirroring and supporting the economic partnership. However, the initial conversation among educators was somewhat fraught. One participant described:

[It] started with finger pointing. [CSU Long Beach] complained about the quality of students coming to the university, and the [K-12] school district pointed out that the university prepares teachers. Finally, it took about a year of meeting for something substantive to happen. The logjam was broken when someone suggested a positive direction and specific steps.

This "positive direction" that was suggested involved CSU-LB and LBUSD taking on shared responsibility for teacher training and jointly focusing on preparing teachers for the urban Long Beach schools. Faculty from CSU-LB's College of Education went into the K-12 schools and organized opportunities for teachers and administrators to be residents on the university campus.

In addition, LBUSD became the first district in California to mandate use of the Early Assessment Program (EAP) in 11th grade. EAP courses were jointly designed by district teachers and university faculty and then taught in high school. Furthermore, LBCC was one of the first community colleges to accept EAP credits.

DEVELOPING THE LONG BEACH COLLEGE PROMISE

The Long Beach College Promise is anchored by a mission and vision that permeate all aspects of the partnership's goals, strategies, and activities. After the initial establishment of the Seamless Education Partnership, in the early 2000s there was a period of time that a few educators described as "dormant"—good relationships and small projects continued, but there were no strategic activities conducted.

The Role of Strong, Long-Term Leadership

However, new leaders in the mid-2000s took the opportunity to reshape the partnership. Eloy Ortiz Oakley became President and Superintendent of Long Beach City College in 2007; at that time, the president of CSU-LB, F. King Alexander, was also relatively new to his position. Chris Steinhauser, who had come up through various positions in LBUSD, had been promoted to Superintendent of Long Beach Unified School District in 2002. These three leaders saw both need and opportunity to revitalize the educational partnership. Economics were again a driver: in 2008, the city, state, and country were in the middle of the worst recession since the Great Depression.

Leadership has played a major role in the development and ultimately success of the Long Beach College Promise. Notably, the pattern of executive leadership in Long Beach runs counter to the volatility and turnover that is the national norm in education. The Long Beach Unified School District has had only two superintendents in 25 years, and both LBCC and CSU-LB have had just three presidents each over the last 20 years. This longevity of executive leadership has been a vital resource for long-term development and continuity of the partnership.

Educational Access

Access to higher education for local Long Beach students is at the heart of the Long Beach College Promise. Local high school graduates who complete minimum college preparation requirements are guaranteed admission to CSU-LB, and local LBCC students who complete

transfer requirements are guaranteed acceptance at CSU-LB. This access is invaluable because CSU-LB receives over 90,000 applications annually and is an impacted campus. In addition, all local high school graduates who enroll in LBCC receive one academic year (previously one semester) tuition-free.

One school district leader describes how the Promise illustrates what moral purpose means when it is enacted:

[I]t changed a little bit from "it's nice that we're collaborating" to "we've made a promise here." It was much more of a moral imperative than the Seamless Partnership was ... because [now] we have a promise about where we're going to send our students. If we don't send them prepared, it's a hollow promise, [and] preparing our students for a place that's not there for them is just as hollow.

BUILDING PATHWAYS IN THE LONG BEACH COLLEGE PROMISE

One district leader noted, "My superintendent has the simplest of sayings, but it really applies here: it's all about relationships."

Receiving the Governor's Innovation Award (GIA) in 2015 gave the Long Beach College Promise the resources it needed to advance work across the three educational institutions and engage a wide range of educators on the ground in this endeavor. GIA funds have supported the creation of continuous pathways for a variety of academic disciplines and career areas. A new group of executive leaders, vice presidents and assistant superintendents, has taken on collaborative leadership of this effort. The partnership's new focus on pathways has also created the opportunity to bring together existing grants and resources to support the cross-institutional developments.

Eight pathways were initially developed, including Business and Liberal Arts, which are popular majors for students transferring from LBCC to CSU-LB, as well as growing workforce fields such as Health and Engineering. Each pathway explicitly lays out the courses and requirements, from high school through higher education, that lead to the desired degree or career entry, including clearly marked options at LBCC and CSU-LB. Each pathway is run by a team comprising nine members, including a faculty member, an administrator, and a counselor or advisor from each institution. Later on, opportunities to participate in these teams were extended to "middle" leaders—deans and curriculum leads—in order to actively engage stakeholders across educational institutions. One participant described how the teams worked:

[I]t was really a matter of us understanding ... [that] we all wanted students to succeed. We all had had various backgrounds [through which] we had seen students either be successful or be not successful, and [we] had a desire to see more prevalence of success.

In their first year of operation, pathway teams focused on finding common language among the members representing different institutions, identifying "leaks" in the pipeline from high school to completion, and beginning to map out a course sequence for students moving through the three institutions. In the upcoming second year, each pathway team will create a visual, virtual

map of course sequences that students who want to pursue a particular field could take, starting in high school and moving through Long Beach City College and/or CSU-LB.

Crossing "The Dime": The Inland Empire Partnership

People have a really hard time crossing the 10, and so there are people from Riverside County on one side of the freeway and then there's things that happen in San Bernardino on the other side, ... and it's just the weirdest thing I've ever experienced.

—Education Leader, Inland Empire

California's Interstate 10, called the "the Dime" by local residents, bisects Riverside and San Bernardino Counties in southeastern California. For a long time, this physical divide also marked a deep division between leaders of the two counties. While in the past leaders simply did not "cross over the Dime," now they are willing to cross this physical and metaphorical boundary. In fact, today's Inland Empire partnership involves 175 leaders from multiple sectors, including 58 K-12 school districts, 11 community colleges, two public universities, and leaders from the private sector and county government.

What changed? Why did the education and economic leadership decide after decades of division and competition to unite in a two-county partnership?

THE INGREDIENTS OF THE TWO-COUNTY PARTNERSHIP'S DEVELOPMENT

Riverside and San Bernardino Counties cover an area of 27,000 square miles with a population of 4.4 million people. The region is called the Inland Empire, and it comprises two of the largest counties in the country. It is also one of the poorest areas in the country.

There are a number of factors cited by local leadership as leading to this multi-sector partnership. Many claim that the biggest and most significant element was the enormous recession of 2008, which wreaked economic and emotional havoc throughout the region. Unemployment rates were some of the highest in the country, and the city of San Bernardino went bankrupt. However, other individuals argue that the shift toward collaboration was actually a more gradual event. One individual described:

I think of it more as a trend line than a particular date. It's one of those things that you see coming. Now that we're at this place, I can look back, and I can see some of those stepping stones in that journey. ... I don't know that it was the collective intention or the collective vision way back then.

The Federation for a Competitive Economy

The first concrete signs of the willingness of leaders to "cross the Dime" emerged in 2009. A new initiative, the Federation for a Competitive Economy (FACE), was launched by the (then) sitting presidents of the CSU-San Bernardino and the University of California-Riverside campuses. The founders of FACE recognized there were many local initiatives and partnerships throughout the region, all geared to the same goals: college readiness, college completion, and

higher quality of life. However, each of these endeavors was operating in isolation. One person commented:

We decided if we were going to have an impact, we needed to bring together all the different stakeholders in the region that cared about the issue of developing a qualified workforce who would stay in the community and give back to the community.

Eventually, over 200 leaders of school districts, community colleges, universities, and community and private sector organizations were listed as members of FACE, all united in a mission that one individual described as follows:

[C] reating an intellectual climate ... that promotes and improves educational opportunities for ALL students, significantly benefiting the economy whose prosperity depends on a well-trained workforce.

FACE's strategic priorities included building a "seamless learning system," facilitating communication across the region, introducing new initiatives to address unmet needs, serving as an "advocate for excellence in education," and encouraging a strong pipeline of qualified workers, especially in the fields of science, technology, engineering, and mathematics (STEM). The activities of FACE from 2008 to 2013 focused on building community engagement and conversations across organizational boundaries. It demonstrated that an effective two-county partnership was possible despite a history of jealousies and competition.

When the Governor's Innovation Award availability was announced in 2014, the Inland Empire leaders seized the opportunity. Drawing from the goals of FACE, the region applied for the award. One leader from a postsecondary institution in the region observed at the time, "Everyone is on the same page, not competing but more focused on an amazing sense of aspirational alignment with a great set of relationships in the room." He then added:

We have some attributes [in this area that] few others in the country enjoy. We have the pieces, and everyone is a part of the fabric in supporting the Inland Empire. ... The next step is to maximize and build on our expertise, our relationships, and our existing programs. We need to use these three strengths and build on three key elements ... [to] push us over the threshold: alignment, coordination, and strategic positioning.

Launching to a New Level

In the spring of 2015, the Inland Empire partnership was awarded \$5 million by the U.S. Department of Finance. The partnership specified five initial goals:

- 1. Align educational policy and initiatives regionally via a bi-county cradle-to-career collective impact model.
- 2. Increase college preparedness, particularly in math, resulting in a 20% reduction within five years in the number of students requiring remediation at the time of matriculation from high school into college.
- 3. Increase baccalaureate attainment by 15% across the two counties within five years.

- 4. Increase the number of students completing a baccalaureate degree within six years by 10% across the two counties within five years.
- 5. Improve career preparedness through strengthened partnership with industry to better align education with workforce needs.

Leadership Compelled by a Moral Imperative

There are a number of reasons that leaders in the Inland Empire decided to construct this multisector two-county partnership. First, the role of leadership was a critical factor, as the initiative brought together leaders from K-12 schools, community colleges, universities, community organizations, and county government. The partnership's executive leadership group included a mix of individuals, some with deep roots in the region and others newly arrived, who collaboratively introduced ideas from their work in other places. A common thread among all members of the executive leadership team was commitment to a moral imperative: the needs of the poor and marginalized *had* to be addressed.

This moral imperative was largely driven by the economic and educational conditions of the region. While the Inland Empire is one of the fastest growing areas in California, it also remains one of the poorest, with economic sectors that generate low- to moderate-paying jobs and high rates of poverty. Moreover, college completion and degree attainment rates remain below the state average.

For many years, these conditions have inspired responses from local schools and colleges attempting to improve both educational and economic outcomes for local residents. An asset map created for FACE identified over 125 collaborations among K-12 schools, community colleges, universities, community organizations, and the private sector. When the new large-scale Inland Empire partnership was created, it was seen as the "spine" or "backbone" that coordinated and aligned these local collaborations.

The partnership is also viewed as a resource engine for the region: a single focal point for local, state, federal, and philanthropic investment which would support efforts to align existing programs, incubate new ones, and track and report the results.

From FACE to the 2015 Partnership

The foundation of the Inland Empire partnership largely involved the evolution of trusting relationships among many different leaders in the region. This was a gradual process that took years to establish, first manifesting in the creation of the Federation for a Competitive Economy in 2008 and emerging on a larger scale through the 2015 launch of the region's new partnership.

The core leaders of the partnership use a variety of metaphors to describe the collaborative nature of their endeavor. Some depict it as an "umbrella" that embraces all of the local partnerships within the two counties to provide resources, data, communication, and technical support. As noted above, others describe it as a "spinal cord" or "backbone" connecting diverse institutions, while still others refer to it as a "federation" of smaller organizations and institutions with the goal of providing overall direction and support to these more localized efforts. Whatever the metaphor, the partnership's leadership is united in the belief that a broad coalition of education and economic leaders is necessary if the people of the Inland Empire are to leave poverty behind for a better and more prosperous life.

Key Findings: Lessons from the Field

The extensive research efforts involved in conducting case studies of the Long Beach College Promise and the Inland Empire partnership ultimately led to the identification of five key components to the successful launch and longevity of intersegmental educational partnership. Each of these themes—leadership, understanding change, relationships, effective use of evidence and data, and organizational coherence—are described in detail in this section of the report.

Leadership

Leadership consistently appears as a key factor in successful education partnerships, as found in multiple research literature sources (ARCHES, 2016; Eddy & Armey, 2011; EDI, 2016; Kania & Kramer, 2011; Kisker & Carducci, 2003). In particular, the strength of moral and professional commitments is foundational for leaders in partnerships. Partnership work is a "calling" defined by moral imperatives—the need to make things right for the community as a whole with attention to the poor and the marginalized. Furthermore, leaders must understand the strengths and limitations of their own institutions and the possibilities that partnerships present.

In this study, the key factor of leadership is broken out into the following six sub-components:

- 1. Moral imperative
- 2. Existential imperative
- 3. Leader engagement
- 4. Middle-level leaders
- 5. Backbone organization leaders
- 6. Succession planning

Each of these pieces of the leadership picture is detailed in the sections below.

MORAL IMPERATIVE

Many participants in both of the regions investigated in these case studies identified a moral, ethical commitment as a key driver of partnership engagement. One executive leader observed, "I'm giving [student success] as much attention as I can, because first of all, it's the right thing to do for our community."

Another leader from Long Beach stressed the importance of working for the common good rather than pursuing individual organizational or personal agendas. Though it is far easier said than done, achieving a sense of common purpose that supersedes the needs and demands of individual institutions and their politics is essential for effective, long-term partnerships. As this leader summarized, "Check your agendas at the door. Do it for the betterment of the community."

Multiple leaders in the Inland Empire partnership also pointed out that the region has exceptionally low college-going rates, with many students not graduating. Addressing this situation became a moral imperative. One leader stated, "For our county, it's been a moral

purpose to make sure that every kid has the opportunity [to attend college], and we sometimes have to force kids to take the opportunity."

In both regions studied, the primary incentive for local CSU campuses to participate in the partnerships was found to be moral dedication to student success; there are few policy incentives in place to promote engagement in this kind of work. Without dedication to a moral imperative, policy structures may reward an entirely different focus, which can lead to "creaming" rather than supporting the success of local, first-generation students (a population that typically includes underrepresented ethnic groups as well as low-income students). Ultimately, as one executive leader commented, it comes down to "doing what's right even if nobody's handing you a check."

However, another leader suggested that while a moral imperative is central, effective leadership also requires the right "timing" and "resources." This observation suggests that a moral imperative is *necessary* for the formation of successful partnerships, but it alone may not be *sufficient* without other key supporting factors in place.

EXISTENTIAL IMPERATIVE

While a moral imperative drives action, such as the formation of a partnership, due to a belief that such action is the right thing to do, an "existential imperative" drives action to help ensure the survival or continued existence of an educational institution and its community. Indeed, threats to quality of life for a region, its population, institutions, or individual programs can also propel leaders to act, guided by an existential imperative. Instances of this can be seen in both regions studied in this investigation. For example, the shifting economic base in Long Beach in the mid-1990s, when industrial plants and the military base were closed, plus changing demographics, were key drivers in establishing the partnership.

The existential imperative also looms large in the Inland Empire, where two forces in particular impact the future of the region: population expansion and technological growth. For instance, industrial automation could undermine economic growth and prosperity if the workforce is not equipped with enhanced job skills and education levels. However, it is also possible that collaboration across the region could produce a large, well-educated workforce that attracts new investment and industries that offer higher-paying jobs. The partnership clearly intends to pursue the second scenario.

One Inland Empire executive observed that the existential imperative links the economy with the educational system in his region:

We can't look at bettering the economy, the business climate of the Inland Empire, unless you're ... looking at the quality of life issues. The number one quality of life issue that we define is the fact that of our 4.4 million people, only 20% of them have a bachelor's degree. Of that 80% that don't have a bachelor's degree, nearly 35% didn't graduate high school.

In a program-level example, the physics department of an institution in the Long Beach region also found the existential imperative to be a driver for change. If the program did not grow, it faced being closed down, as had happened in other parts of the country. One stakeholder observed, "It wasn't a moral or ethical decision—it was, 'Are we going to survive?"

As the departmental faculty responded to this existential imperative by changing curriculum, pedagogy, and advising in order to make courses more accessible and build enrollment, the success of traditionally underserved, first-generation students suddenly ballooned. This increase in student achievement emerged despite the fact that the faculty's original intention was neither to embrace diversity nor to support the success of underrepresented students. One faculty member explained:

We weren't doing anything explicitly with ethnicity. We're just making a good program that people are going to be successful in. ... But things are going so well ... now [that] the faculty really own this diversity.

EXECUTIVE LEADER ENGAGEMENT

Multiple study participants in both regions cited the importance of engaging executive leaders for partnerships to be successful. The term "executive leaders" here refers to presidents and superintendents as well as vice presidents and associate superintendents.

Executive leaders can set the tone for the partnership, make the partnership's priority visible, allocate resources, and give staff members permission and encouragement to partner. Leaders who participate in partnerships, one executive leader argued, need to "have sufficient leverage, be at a sufficiently high administrative level, to make things happen."

A CSU Long Beach executive leader described how the shared commitment across institutions worked in practice:

[It's essential to have a] level of commitment to the partnership on the highest executive level, where ... the superintendent ... can call my provost or the president of the community college and really discuss things right away as they emerge. ... They're open to each other, and ... they know each other.

As one Inland Empire executive further noted, the initiative in his region is a sweeping undertaking, but it benefits from "very, very clear goals" articulated at the executive leadership level.

Due to both the requirements of their position and their level of authority at an institution, executive leaders also bring to a partnership the capacity to think systematically in a way that middle-level leaders alone cannot. Middle-level leaders (such as deans, department chairs, or program directors) do not have regular access to big-picture issues facing educational institutions, and they have to struggle to find time above and beyond their day-to-day responsibilities if they wish to reflect on those issues. In contrast, the role of executive leaders incorporates a mandate to continually focus on such big-pictures issues. Moreover, executive leaders have the authority to take action on an institution-wide (or system-wide) level, which middle-level leaders also cannot do on their own.

Without the engagement of executive leaders, it is difficult for partnerships to be initiated and/or sustained with clear focus, appropriate support, and continuing strategic guidance. One leader cautioned that without high-level, systemic thinking, institutional practices could easily "snap back" to the way they were before the partnership was introduced. Another cautioned, "There could be the tendency to focus on smaller, disconnected initiatives." Similarly, a state-level

policymaker observed that the Governor's Innovation Award requires executive leadership support for the grants in order to avoid isolated "islands of innovation."

Yet commitment from executive leaders is not in and of itself a recipe for success. One middle-level leader in Long Beach argued that while visionary executive leadership is important, so too is structure, follow-up, and a sense of the practicalities of implementation:

[S]omeone at the executive leadership level has to have a vision and the ability to not be deterred by "shiny objects" [that distract one's focus.] ... [But] you just can't have vision without the structure that allows it to flow down from the top.... Someone at the top [needs to say], "This is important,"... setting the frame of discussion ... but then also implementing the structures to put the vision in place.

MIDDLE-LEVEL LEADERS

How Partnerships Benefit from Middle-Level Leaders

The engagement of middle-level leaders is also critical to sustaining effective partnerships; they bring a perspective to the work that differs substantially from that of executive leaders. Whether deans, department chairs, administrators of particular units, or faculty leaders, the participation of these kinds of middle-level leaders is necessary for a partnership to succeed.

In contrast to executive leaders, middle-level leaders bring to partnerships a focus on the specifics of implementing initiatives that is just as essential as a high-level vision for the work. Middle-level leaders are frequently responsible for translating the vision of executive leaders into daily action.

If a new initiative or reform is to take hold in an institution and be sustained over time, it has to become a part of the institutional culture and regular practice of faculty and staff. Middle-level leaders are able to facilitate this kind of cultural acceptance of new ideas due to their close connection to on-the-ground practices, faculty and staff attitudes, and student behavior. Furthermore, middle-level leaders can create the infrastructure and ongoing support for faculty and staff to successfully realize the new ideas envisioned at the executive level. As such, for initiatives such as cross-sector partnerships to thrive, middle-level leaders must be part of both the development and implementation processes.

How Middle-Level Leaders Benefit from Partnerships

Partnership work can also serve to broaden the perspectives of middle-level leaders, enabling them to think more systematically on a meta-level about institutional and regional issues. One Long Beach executive emphasized the importance of learning to think systemically for all levels of leaders engaged in partnership work:

[I]t's so difficult for people to think beyond the particularistic and to really think in terms of the systemic. That does not come naturally to most human beings, and it doesn't come naturally to most educators. To me, though, that's pretty important when you're dealing with entities as large and complex.

Middle-level leaders can benefit from exposure to conceptual and programmatic resources provided via partnership work and grant-funded activities. Involvement in multiple grant-funded

activities can also help to build cross-sector bridges and sharing of resources, as one middle-level university leader in Long Beach observed:

[My community college counterpart] sits on the Bridging the Gap committee, and I do as well, which is from the Irvine Foundation. The grant looks at enhancing internship experiences for students and making those pathways from high school to Cal State Long Beach and City College more transparent, with a big connection to linked learning. And so we ... realized that we have a lot of overlapping resources in those areas.

To compare the two regions, middle-level leaders in Long Beach seem to have taken a greater role in the operations of the partnership than have those in the Inland Empire. One reason for this difference is the longevity of the two regional partnerships—20 years for Long Beach versus one year for the Inland Empire. Another factor is the contrast in size and complexity of the two regions. Yet in the Inland Empire, there have been numerous sub-regional initiatives featuring strong engagement of middle-level leaders.

"BACKBONE ORGANIZATION" LEADERS

Backbone support is a key function in partnerships that can involve leading, convening, facilitating, and offering logistical assistance and connections in a variety of ways. Backbone support may be provided by an organization that is separate from the partnering institutions, or it may be done by the partners themselves. The research literature describes backbone support organizations as critical to maintaining and prolonging the work of partnerships (ARCHES, 2016; Cevallos, 2013; Kania & Kramer, 2011; Moore et al., 2015).

The type of leadership needed to provide backbone support may differ from the leadership required in the partnership itself. In the two partnerships studied, backbone support was seen as primarily as logistical and administrative in its character, rather than visionary. The latter sort of leadership appeared to be more characteristic of executive leaders in the partner organizations. The researchers also observed that the backbone support function seemed particularly important in the startup phase of a partnership.

Two stakeholders from the Inland Empire partnership described the need for the backbone function:

A key piece [of the partnership] is having an intermediary in place that is not within an existing bureaucratic or institutional structure but outside it, and is a neutral convener and facilitator.

I think the role of ... backbone organizations [is to be] an entity that is a neutral convener and integrator that can help the region identify [and] set the strategy and the common objectives [for the partnership] and then support [the partners] in moving toward it.

This type of "backbone" work, though, can be performed either by organizations external to the partnership or partnership members themselves. For example, in the early days of the Long Beach Seamless Education Partnership, the Long Beach Foundation served as a "backbone" organization, with the primary role of convening the partnership stakeholders. However, a coordinating leadership position was created in the K-12 school district office, mutually

supported by the school district, the community college, and the university. These coordinating and convening roles have subsequently been internalized in the partnership's educational institutions.

SUCCESSION PLANNING

As posited above, as well as in the research literature, leaders at multiple levels are vital to the success of partnerships. However, this study has also identified some potential pitfalls that can undercut effective leadership (Honig, 2001), such as staff turnover, excessive association of an innovation with one individual leader, and the lack of succession planning.

For example, while new leaders can often infuse partnerships with increased energy and purpose, persistent turnover in executive leadership also presents a challenge. Those who disagree with the proposed direction of a new leader, for instance, may simply decide to wait until the next leader comes, knowing that the current leader is unlikely to remain in place for long. Innovation can also become the domain of one particular executive leader, which may limit the participation of others. Moreover, when that person leaves the partnership for another position, the associated innovation may wither. As such, planning for leadership transition and succession in a way that maintains innovation must be a central concern for any partnership seeking to thrive over the long term.

Indeed, participants in both regional partnerships repeatedly stressed the importance of transition and succession planning, particularly since short tenure and high turnover often characterize executive leadership positions in the education field. According to *Education Week*, the average tenure of superintendents leading urban school districts is slightly over three years (Will, 2014). For community college presidents or chancellors, average tenure is just over four years (Community College League of California, 2012). One Long Beach executive expressed the desire to promote "leadership longevity." Another Long Beach executive described how he had proactively addressed the issue of succession as he prepared to retire:

I've made a fair effort to deeply socialize two of my staff into this work. I basically am letting them do everything for the last year so that they really are steeped in it. I'm hoping that they will bring a depth of knowledge that they can then share with my successor that will be a little bit helpful in that regard.

In fact, Long Beach's school district, community college, and university have all had executive leaders that stayed in their roles well beyond national averages. This leadership longevity played an important role in allowing time for the partnership to take root.

Understanding Change

The process of change is neither simple nor linear, and it is always accompanied by messiness of some kind. Effective partnership leaders understand that planning for change is an iterative process, and making corrections or pivoting is part of that process. They also recognize that the change process requires focusing both inward and outward—for example, organizing the talents and creativity of individuals inside partnership organizations while at the same time learning lessons from other parts of the state and nation. Furthermore, a successful change process requires that leaders recognize the resource needs of their partners and work collaboratively to

find the funding and the personnel necessary to support the development of strategies and innovative practices among the partners that will animate and promote improvements.

In this study, the researchers found that there were six key components to understanding change in intersegmental education partnerships:

- 1. Utilizing strategic frameworks from multiple disciplines
- 2. Learning from other regions
- 3. Leveraging local assets
- 4. Implementing curricular and instructional reform
- 5. Cultivating resources to promote change
- 6. Incentivizing change

Each of these aspects of understanding change is described in the following sections.

UTILIZING STRATEGIC FRAMEWORKS FROM MULTIPLE DISCIPLINES

In both regional partnerships, participants repeatedly stressed the usefulness of drawing from overarching strategic frameworks from multiple disciplines to guide their work. In the Inland Empire, frequent references were made, for instance, to the "collective impact" research as a guiding theory for regional partnership work (Kania & Kramer, 2001). One participant observed, "There's just a number of us who have experienced some of these K-16 works and some of the collective impact work elsewhere in the country."

Inland Empire leaders also mentioned the influence of Alignment USA and Alignment Nashville on their thinking (Nation et al., 2010). This model of a coordinated support framework promotes youth empowerment and success by using a regional strategic plan, engaging a wide range of stakeholders, establishing collaborative cross-sector teams, and more. One executive leader in the region also mentioned work on the "metropolitan revolution," which describes creativity and innovation in metropolitan areas across the world (Katz & Bradley, 2013).

Numerous participants from Long Beach further cited the influence of "design thinking" concepts that were developed at the Stanford University Institute of Design (Faste, 2001; Kelley & Kelley, 2013) and had been introduced to the school district through grant development activities. The design thinking process is adapted from the fields of engineering and product development. It is a problem-solving methodology that engages both analytic thinking and wideranging imagination. Through design thinking activities, a series of prototypes are tested and revised based on user/student data and feedback. One middle-level leader elaborated on the impact of design thinking on her planning group:

The [Long Beach] College Promise team had a design thinking presentation ... where we made a leap forward in terms of the concepts that we had been talking about. ... It forced us to look at a bigger picture and to step back and think about not just the data that we had from an institutional standpoint about success and graduation rates, but to revisit student-infused information and ask, what kinds of information would they want in a pathway? What kinds of information would they want to know to help them make guided decisions?

Long Beach also applied the Linked Learning framework in the development of its cross-institutional pathways. The principles of Linked Learning include rigorous academics that meet

college-ready standards paired with sequenced, high-quality career technical education, work-based learning, and comprehensive supports to help students stay on track. The work-related theme in Linked Learning provides a practical lens for students to learn academic content. Additionally, use of a common framework lets the partners coordinate and align multiple grants and projects. One Long Beach partnership stakeholder explained:

We've made a real concerted effort over the last year and a half to coordinate everything. The pathways [and] the action plans are being created [and] are being built within a Linked Learning framework that is being aligned to the work that's happening in the Linked Learning regional hub that we're a part of.

LEARNING FROM OTHER REGIONS

Participants in both regional partnerships described early efforts to learn from work underway in other parts of the country in order to build their capacity for partnering. This reflects a willingness to look widely for ideas and inspiration, a critical asset to partnerships.

In Long Beach, early influences from other locations included visits to other colleges conducted by CSU administrators and faculty as part of an American Association of State College and Universities (AASCU) and Education Trust effort to increase retention and completion rates among all student ethnic and gender groups. They visited 13-15 institutions, including Elizabeth City State College North Carolina in order to observe how an historically Black institution promoted student success. Furthermore, when new executive leaders wanted to reinvigorate the Long Beach partnership in 2007/2008, they looked to learn from related efforts in Kalamazoo, Michigan.

Leaders in the Inland Empire partnership also cited influences from around the country, including northern Kentucky, Cincinnati, and Nashville. The regional Catholic archdiocese structure in the Inland Empire was also mentioned as a useful example of a functioning two-county regional organization. In addition, they looked to Long Beach to learn about the Promise and consider how they might adapt that model to their setting. A Long Beach executive leader described how many lessons can be learned from the Promise despite its individual characteristics:

There are a lot of things that can be extracted from Long Beach that can be done in other communities. The bottom line is that it really just comes down to finding a set of willing partners in any community and just working on common issues and doing the best you can to leverage the assets that you have in any community.

LEVERAGING LOCAL ASSETS

Partnership participants in both regions emphasized the importance of analyzing and leveraging locally available resources, such as existing educational programs, leadership, curriculum, community supporters, businesses, and nonprofits, in order to support their efforts. An executive leader in Long Beach argued that assessing local strengths and challenges is a key to innovation.

The FACE initiative in the Inland Empire offered a strong example of an effort to assess and knit together local assets. As described earlier, FACE preceded the Inland Empire's current regional partnership. The former executive director of FACE commented:

[FACE] involved people far beyond the university. It involved education, K through college, everything in our region plus the business sector plus the nonprofit sector and plus the government sector. ... We wanted to bring them together and figure out how we could leverage human and fiscal resources and truly come up with some measurable things that could make a difference to the strength economically as well as educationally [of] our region.

One particularly promising outcome of FACE was a regional asset map that detailed all known student success activities underway across educational sectors in the Inland Empire. One partnership participant described the development of this map:

We took a look at everything that was out there, and then we [identified] a subset of those things that had excellent data that we could use in some capacity, ... doing an assessment of existing programs and what specifically they did. I did an asset map on STEM because that was of high interest to everyone in our region. I [focused] it on college-going efforts, asking, "What are the college-going, college completion efforts that take place, and what are the STEM activities?"

IMPLEMENTING CURRICULAR AND INSTRUCTIONAL REFORM

According to multiple participants in both regions, curriculum and instruction are two of the toughest things to change in educational institutions. Adjusting curriculum and instruction to create a more seamless pathway for students moving from high school to college completion requires the collaboration of faculty in different institutions who face different levels of accountability and have differing amounts of autonomy and decision-making power.

In the Inland Empire, for example, one of the major initial goals of the partnership was the development and implementation of a "Fourth Year Math" curriculum. The creation of this new curriculum involved faculty from multiple institutions, across all sectors, and from many parts of the region. The project was piloted in over 20 classes in different parts of the Inland Empire in order to establish its validity across a diverse set of institutions and students. The faculty member leading the work explained the need for this project:

What the schools were lacking was a course that was post-Algebra II, but not necessarily a Calc[ulus]-track course. There needed to be something for the vast majority of students who finished Algebra II and could benefit from another year of math, a fourth year of math, but [who] didn't want to go into the sort of rigorous STEM track.

Since curriculum in higher education is traditionally the province of the faculty, administrators' action to influence curricular innovation requires a thoughtful and strategic approach. As one Long Beach executive leader observed:

What we found was [that] ... change conversations have to be integrated into the instructional areas. ... If you look at trying to move students across institutions, what you find is that the hard work is aligning what they've learned and the learning outcomes across institutions.

As described earlier, in an effort requiring substantial amounts of change to curriculum and instruction, Long Beach has invested its GIA resources in developing educational pathways that connect continuously across the regional high schools, community college, and California State University. Teams representing eight educational fields, including business administration, physical sciences, STEM, health care, and engineering, were directed to find a common language, identify leaks in the educational pipeline, and begin to map out course sequences for students moving through all three institutions. A science faculty member at CSU Long Beach noted the particular challenges of changing curriculum:

There's three broad sorts of things that we've done: ... advising, pedagogy, and the curriculum itself. We have over about a 10-year span taken a look at each one of those things systematically and done something with it, and ... the curriculum is the hardest one of all to think about, because that's changing what it means to be a physics major. That's one that ... most student success initiatives don't touch.

CULTIVATING RESOURCES TO PROMOTE CHANGE

Both partnerships have received multiple awards of external funds from a variety of sources, both private and public. For Long Beach in particular, the range of external support over the years has been considerable, and multiple participants commented on the usefulness of these resources. One university executive leader noted that external funding can add impetus to local initiatives already under way:

You don't need big foundation grants to start that work or to do the work, but of course the grants are helping to kick that work into higher gear.

A university middle manager also observed that grants allowed for valuable professional development opportunities, helping participants gain new ideas and see how those ideas could take shape. She further commented that she and her colleagues benefited from collective discussions among faculty addressing a variety of change initiatives, helping them understand how to develop, promote, and implement change.

Multiple participants also reflected favorably on the flexible nature of the GIA funding and how it let them pursue their own interests. A state policymaker described the intent of this adaptable funding mechanism:

It was intentional. The theory of this all was, if you put out an incentive that is attractive enough, in both the size of the dollars that an institution could get and the fact that they can spend it without significant restrictions, then you can get institutions to be willing to play this game.

Furthermore, local resources can be leveraged to support one another in a dialogical fashion, as the researchers observed in both regional partnerships. For example, one Inland Empire school district executive leader described how external innovation funds can generate a "domino effect" that builds upon local resources:

The state's going to pour a lot of money into our area for GIA. They don't realize that there's a domino effect of that money. GIA's not funding AP Readiness, but yet there's a domino effect because ... we're going to do whatever we can to get kids college-ready.... We're not going to wait for GIA to set up a program. If we think it's important, we're going to move along.

According to another executive leader in the Inland Empire, the partnership in his region expects to leverage local funds via cost-sharing match requirements:

If a school district comes and says to us, "We want to increase college preparedness [among] our graduating seniors so that we can achieve mass college readiness. This initiative will cost \$100,000." We've agreed that if the district threw in \$50,000, we would throw in [the other] \$50,000. At some point, we have to incentivize innovation and get districts to partner with us as funders for this innovation.

However, one middle-level school district leader in Long Beach cautioned against over-reliance on external funds:

The external support needs to be real[ly] focused and in line with what you're doing. Sometimes monies can come in that have nothing to do with what you're doing. Then, if you start to chase dollars, you can get away from your vision and your goal.

Moreover, one CSU science department faculty member in Long Beach clearly preferred relying on more stable local resources instead of short-term external funding. He described:

We've been pretty conscious about not relying on something that is an initiative or something that is not going to be permanent. Sustainability in anything that we're going to do is real important. ... We basically decided as a department that we were going to do this on our own. We weren't going to wait for extra resources.

Ultimately, external funding is most effective when it aligns with and is applied to work that is central to the mission of the institution. Without that connection to an institution's core mission and moral purpose, external finding can become a distraction or provide support for a short-term project that is never scaled up or institutionalized. However, when external resources support the core work of the institution, the benefits are wide-ranging, including not only funding, but also a chance for education practitioners to generate innovative ideas, try out alternate models, and develop new perspectives. Finally, external grants also provide the opportunity for administrators, faculty, and staff to connect with their peers at other institutions and learn from the experiences of their colleagues.

INCENTIVIZING CHANGE

Multiple leaders in both regions remarked that there are few policy or practical incentives in place at any institutional level to support partnering. This is one reason that the GIA initiative

has been particularly valuable in facilitating partnership initiatives in California. One Long Beach executive leader commented:

There really are so few incentives for partnering. It takes a strong vision and strong leader to be willing to swim upstream against the, not so much the disincentives, but the fact that there are demands from 18 other directions [that] can easily distract you.

Several leaders argued that structural incentive policies ought to be put in place to promote innovation designed to increase student success. School districts and community colleges were seen as having the greatest incentives for partnering, including financial, legislative, and accountability incentives to improve student success and move students along the education pathway. However, to date neither the California legislature nor the CSU President's Office has developed a long-term plan to incentivize CSU participation in regional partnerships. Instead, these four-year institutions often prioritize reputation, competitive admissions policies, research, and publishing. Furthermore, partnerships provide K-12 schools and community colleges with direct access to and resources for their students, while four-year institutions could accept students from other regions and not be compelled to serve local students.

To build incentives for endeavors that enhance student success, one Inland Empire university executive suggested "making student success a part of administrator evaluations." A state policymaker also discussed the use of incentives, noting growing state interest in providing educational institutions with financial incentives for eliminating organizational barriers to student success. A Long Beach university executive added:

If the state were paying attention to this sort of thing, I do think it would make a lot of sense for them to create goals and incentives for this kind of work, as is done elsewhere in the country.

He went on to advocate for the state to offer CSUs financial incentives that would:

- Streamline the curriculum to move more students to completion;
- Expand support programs such as tutoring and learning communities;
- Make the curriculum more relevant to the job market;
- Improve early selection of majors to help students make best choices of field and career;
- Dramatically raise graduation rates; and
- Increase collaboration with K-12 districts and/or community colleges.

Multiple participants further stated that two key areas were particularly challenging when it came to efforts aimed at increasing student success: engaging faculty and changing curriculum. Tagg (2012) argues that tenured faculty resist change because of three key factors: loss aversion, the endowment effect, and fear of change. Loss aversion is generally understood as a psychological term: once a person has something of great value, that person will be averse to giving it up under most circumstances. The endowment effect refers to the value of tenure for college faculty and the frequent lack of willingness to jeopardize that tenure by straying too far from the home department or program and/or challenging its rules and norms.

An executive leader in Long Beach stated that the only way to engage his science faculty in student success work had been to invest significant resources (\$100,000) to secure a large federal grant—in effect, incentivizing faculty participation in change. He described:

I'd been working for years to get my science college to pay attention to student success. ... It just seemed like they just couldn't figure it out. Then along comes the BUILD Grant. This big \$24 million [grant from]... NIH, NSF, and Department of [Education]. It's three federal entities. It's a big, giant thing. ... There's money on offer, and that's what the scientists respond to. I spent \$100,000 to get the BUILD proposal written. They were happy as clams. Now they're all over student success.

This executive argued that ultimately, with appropriate state-level policy incentives in place, "Four-year leaders will cooperate because it will be in their interest." Yet he admitted that performance-based funding in higher education has shown mixed results, citing research in the area (Dougherty et al., 2012; Rutherford & Rabovsky, 2014). Therefore, while performance-based funding may have some attraction as an incentive for partnering, there is only limited evidence of its success in U.S. higher education in recent years.

Relationships

Participants in both regional partnerships consistently identified the importance of establishing and maintaining productive relationships among collaborators. Prior research reiterates the centrality of both communication and relationships (Austin, 2000; ARCHES, 2016; Eddy & Armey, 2011; EDI, 2016; Kania & Kramer, 2011; Kisker & Carducci, 2003; Moore, et al., 2015).

One critical factor in the durability of partnerships is trust, along with the recognition that trusting relationships are not built overnight. Leaders must understand that building long-term, trusting relationships is a complex, continuing, and crucial process. Additionally, relationships that facilitate strong partnerships must include strong communication systems and the ability to maintain and sustain those relationships over the long haul.

In this study, the factor of relationships was found to comprise the following three aspects:

- 1. Establishing trust among participants
- 2. Developing a common language
- 3. Bridging communication gaps

These three aspects of effective relationships are explored individually in the sections below.

ESTABLISHING TRUST AMONG PARTICIPANTS

One of the primary reasons that trust is such an important component of relationships between partners is that it leads to shared decision-making. Trust grows in relationships over time, resting on repeated experiences of partners showing up, listening, responding, and working together. The existence of trust among partners does not mean that everyone will agree all of the time, but it creates an underlying shared commitment and a willingness to learn together.

One middle-level school district manager in Long Beach recalled that when she became an administrator, she realized she would need to partner with the local community college and CSU campus to maximize the impact of district policies and programs on students. She elaborated:

People always ask us, "How do you make this College Promise [initiative] work?" It's really about the development of relationships. ... I could call any of the people at either of the organizations. We know each other, so they're willing to help me. That's what most people don't understand.

A Long Beach executive leader further observed that the "chemistry" of the people on the partnership steering committee was particularly exciting. She described:

The energy around these discussions from our institutional partners... is really infectious. It's wonderful to see where we are looking for ways to really collaboratively solve problems that we might think are problems just for us, but then with a different perspective or different outlook or even different policies. We're able to help each other out.

Participants also pointed out that productive partnerships must begin with an openness to collaboration. Moore et al. (2015) call this a "coalition of the willing." One Inland Empire leader observed, "Not everybody wants to play," suggesting the need to vet potential new partners and focus on engaging those who would be eager collaborators.

However, she noted that despite considerable willingness to partner, in her sub-region, there remained real issues of territoriality. Therefore, trust and openness, while a key component of a successful partnership, may sometimes be elusive, requiring substantial effort to achieve.

DEVELOPING A COMMON LANGUAGE

Participants in both regions cited the need to develop a "common language" to be used across institutional boundaries. Even basic terms, such as "counseling" and "advising" or "units" or "credits" can have different meanings in different settings and often need clarification among institutions. A higher education executive leader in Long Beach put it this way:

For example, when we say" advisor," they say "counselor," right? A counselor on our campus is someone who deals with mental health issues. A counselor for them is someone who plans the next year of study with the student.

A school district middle-level leader in Long Beach added:

When we talk about high school credits, colleges talk in terms of units. So what does that mean? We really started to talk about terminology in refining some of our processes.

To build a shared vocabulary, counselors and advisors across educational institutions in Long Beach created a "terminology handbook," a critical step in facilitating effective communication. Within the Inland Empire partnership, communicating with faculty members in particular about innovation and change efforts was found to be challenging (Tagg, 2012).-An Inland Empire executive leader observed:

In any community, you will find mistrust between the educational partners, and especially between the faculty. We have developed ways to get around that trust issue. ... Just getting around that issue requires years of pushing and

overcoming the naysayers that typically have the loudest voices on our campuses.

BRIDGING COMMUNICATION GAPS

The development of effective communication processes—within institutions, between partnership members, and among external stakeholders and members of surrounding communities—often faces numerous barriers. The two partnership regions have responded to these barriers in a variety of ways. For example, a CSU-LB executive leader discussed the need to do a better job of engaging faculty:

These [student success] efforts by the administration are often perceived by faculty as anti-education. ... [Faculty think] that we are just "speed-graduating" our students. ... But this is not about speed-graduating anybody, because any student should be able to get a pretty good and comprehensive education in 120 units.

Both partnerships have engaged in substantive work to bridge these kinds of communication gaps. One aspect of this work has involved a summer process called "vertical counseling," which was initiated by Long Beach Unified School District. The vertical counseling process establishes collegial connections at multiple levels of the three educational sectors (K-12, community college, and university). It enables counselors and advisors in the different institutions to clarify key points of contact, develop shared language and strategies, and lay the foundation for solving problems during the school year. The process also enables high school counselors in specific pathways to be able to "hand off" their students to counselors in the same pathway at the next educational level, whether community college or CSU.

The pathways work in Long Beach also reflects a conscious effort to overcome communication barriers. Earlier initiatives in prior years were hampered by the perception that they were top-down efforts. One middle-level manager recalls:

It left a bad taste in people's mouths because it seemed like it came completely from the top down. ... [Faculty said,] we don't want this to ... feel very administration-heavy, and [we're] being told what to do by [the] administration.

The structure of Long Beach's current pathways endeavor reflects a vastly different approach. Each of the initiative's eight pathways is run by a team that comprises an administrator, counselor/advisor, and faculty member from each of the three partner institutions, totaling nine individuals. In this way, Long Beach's efforts are designed to build collaboration, engage faculty, and enhance communication at all levels. The pathways groups meet monthly, have multiple whole-group convenings, and conduct all-faculty campus-wide briefings at the end of the year to summarize and celebrate progress.

Yet one high school teacher working in the Long Beach pathways project commented that time limitations and participants' other full-time jobs can still pose a barrier to communication and ultimately implementation of pathways goals, particularly for faculty members. This teacher observed:

[T]hey're asking people who have full-time jobs to do a lot of work that they probably really don't have a lot of time for.... It's very difficult to do stuff outside of your own job that already takes up 40 or 50 hours of your week.

This issue of time limitations speaks to the difficulty of getting information to faculty as well as the challenges of providing substantive support for partnership work. As such, often faculty remain unaware of many partnership accomplishments.

Effective Use of Evidence and Data

The utilization of data is a powerful tool that can be employed at different times in the development of partnerships. Research on partnerships emphasizes the importance of accessing and analyzing valid data across programs in order to assess progress and shape decisions (ARCHES, 2016; Eddy & Armey, 2011; EDI, 2016; Kania & Kramer, 2011). When a partnership is initiated, leaders can use data to identify student and institutional needs as well as build a sense of urgency. As partnerships develop, data can be critical to monitoring progress toward the partnership's goals and measuring the outcomes of its efforts. As such, leaders must establish reliable internal data systems for all partner institutions and commit to building datasharing processes among all partnership members.

In this study, the effective use of evidence and data was determined to have the following two primary components:

- 1. Generating and analyzing internal data
- 2. Sharing data across the partnership

Each of these components are described further below.

GENERATING AND ANALYZING INTERNAL DATA

Many of the individual institutions in the two regional partnerships have strong capacities to generate and analyze data within their own organizations. Long Beach Unified School District has a powerful data "dashboard" that aggregates information about student outcomes by identifying all student "momentum points." For example, research shows that students who pass certain milestones, such as completion of 15 or 30 units of college coursework, are more likely to continue toward their goals than those who do not reach those targets.

Teachers can use these kinds of data not only to conduct an initial assessment of the obstacles students encounter and then build academic or career pathways that address those obstacles, but also to determine the degree to which students are reaching key milestones, thus assessing the overall quality and effectiveness of the pathways. Additionally, data findings are increasingly used to generate professional development topics for the academic year. However, obstacles to accessing data remain, such as the difficulty of collecting information about students' work-based learning experiences and their impact.

One of the ways that Long Beach City College has leveraged data collection and analysis has been by identifying indicators that correlated with and predicted student success. The college's research office found that existing standardized placement exams were weak predictors of student achievement. In response, LBCC has implemented an alternate placement process that uses multiple measures, including high school grade point averages. Doing so has decreased

enrollment in developmental math and English classes, thus saving time for students and institutions. Today, this evidence-based, multiple measures placement model developed by LBCC has become the basis for an initiative to implement a similar multifaceted assessment system across the California Community College system.

CSU Long Beach is not only developing institutional data capacity, but also investing in increasing educators' capacity to engage with data in order to better guide decisions that will enhance student success. The university has created a stipend-funded, two-year professional development program called "Data Fellows," which develops the skills of faculty, administrators, and staff with respect to the usage of student success data. In this program, three-person teams from each of CSU-LB's "colleges" (such as the College of Science) work on college-specific projects to remove barriers to student success. Drawing from data, they plan the projects in the first year of the program and implement them in the second. A middle-level leader who participates in the initiative described the process:

[S]o myself as an associate dean level, advisors, [and] people in Student Affairs started that program [at] the start of this year. ... [W]e would meet and talk about student success ideas, like time to graduation, gaps in success rates between underrepresented and not underrepresented students, and the whole purpose of that meeting was [to ask,] ... what data do we have?

A Long Beach executive who has seen some preliminary results from the Data Fellows work adds that hearing about projects from other units in the university has broadened knowledge of what is going on across the campus. The executive commented:

It's actually quite exciting. ... We're doing major switching analyses. ... What's interesting about that is that ... [participants in the program] are now mapping what majors their students start with and then what majors their students are graduating with if they remain in the same college. ... Then the issue of curriculum development could become something that is really going beyond the department.

SHARING DATA ACROSS THE PARTNERSHIP

Participants in both regional partnerships reported that while currently there is not much systematic inter-institutional data-sharing, there are plans to build that capacity. Initially, such systems may take the form of "workarounds," because each educational system has a different data management system. Over time, though, these workarounds could evolve into seamless "data warehouses." Other data-sharing efforts to date have often taken the form of individual hand-offs of data files.

In the Inland Empire, one of the key working groups funded under the GIA award is focusing on data. An executive leader noted:

We literally have to be able to track every single high school graduate of every single district ... by creating a data warehouse that will be able to capture the progress that's being made. ... We have to track the percentage of students that are leaving the community colleges and going to four-year institutions.

Although inter-institutional data-sharing in Long Beach is a work in progress, an executive leader highlighted one instance of success in data-sharing that led to action:

Through the data that we do have, we've learned ... that we have very few students from Long Beach City College who apply to the [CSU-LB] College of Education. In fact, they were [in] single digits last year. By looking at that data, ... we have strengthened the presence of future teacher's clubs on each of the three [LBCC] campuses. ... Already this year, we have more than tripled the [number of] students who apply.

Organizational Coherence

Partnerships are complex and often messy, and they can lead to high levels of stress among the leadership. Yet, living on edge of chaos can also generate extraordinary creativity among those who are willing to face the challenge. Therefore, partnership leaders must be able to manage a certain amount of uncertainty in order to "keep the creative juices flowing" while at the same time guiding partnerships to the other side of chaos: coherence. Fullan (2001) says that coherence-making is a constant pursuit among partner institutions, where complexity and chaos are always knocking on the door. To maintain this equilibrium, leaders must use powerful strategic frameworks while always focusing on the long-term strategies.

The primary components of organizational coherence identified in this study are:

- 1. Use of long-term strategies
- 2. Understanding changes over the course of a partnership
- 3. Flexibility and adaptability

Each of these elements of organizational coherence is described further below.

LONG-TERM STRATEGIES

Long-term strategies are being pursued and implemented in both partnership regions via a range of focused and thoughtful approaches, with a clear focus on local needs. These strategies address evolving regional conditions and are supported by data and observation over time.

One area that has been addressed widely in both regions is work-based learning, implemented via Linked Learning and high school career academies. A Long Beach Community College executive described:

Linked Learning is really a college- and career-readiness approach. It's the idea that all students will be prepared to meet CSU and [University of California] standards within the lens of an industry theme, making the material more relevant to student[s]. ... The components of Linked Learning are rigorous academics built in with specific technical skills, integrated student supports, and work-based learning opportunities. These [work-based learning experiences] can be from class lectures, guest speakers, class projects, job shadowing, site visits, up to internships. ... The basic benefit of a Linked Learning model is that due to [the increased] relevancy [of course

content to "real life,"] students are more engaged. You see high school graduation rates increase.

Another long-term issue that receives attention in both regions is remediation in mathematics and English. To address this issue, concurrent enrollment has become a shared focus across institutions. One LBCC executive leader described a recent concurrent enrollment effort designed to strengthen the academic experience of high school students:

As we moved into this summer in offering our courses, we increased the number of concurrent enrollment courses that we're offering. We have built in tutoring for all of those courses. We've built in mandatory orientations up front to help students understand the requirements [and] how college works, and we have strengthened our communication model to notify students of important dates such as drop dates [and] midterms.

Yet another long-term strategy being implemented at LBCC is the "multiple measures" assessment procedure described earlier, which has enabled placement of students without the barrier of standardized tests. As a result, many students are no longer required to take unnecessary remedial courses, and their path to transfer is shortened.

At CSU Long Beach, a set of multiple innovation strategies called the Highly Valued Degrees Initiative was put in place over several years to increase college retention and completion rates. This initiative involved work across a range of areas: communication, organization, data collection/analysis, budget, advising, enrollment, curriculum and pedagogy, hiring, and partnerships. Strategies included establishing college advising centers, requiring a commitment to student success in tenure-track hiring, enhancing the use of data through the Data Fellows program, and building local leadership capacity through a Leadership Fellows program. The results of these efforts included an initial gain of over 20% in baccalaureate graduation rates. Moreover, CSU-LB saw further increases in graduation rates over time, with ultimately more than 3,000 additional students on track to graduate. Due to the effective implementation of an innovative long-term strategy, these gains occurred without increasing selectivity in admissions, and they even took place during a time of recession and slashed higher education budgets.

Participants in both regions agreed that partnering is hard, long-term work. It requires a substantial commitment over time, the willingness to put aside individual institutional agendas, and patience while facing periodic challenges and shifts in goals, strategies, and resources. Partnering can also involve a great deal of initial activity that may not produce immediate action or outcomes. It can take time to build relationships as well as to transition from a mindset of planning to one of action. Because of this, for a partnership to succeed, its leaders and participants must take "the long view" rather than focusing on short-term initiatives and immediate rewards.

UNDERSTANDING CHANGES OVER THE COURSE OF A PARTNERSHIP

Partnerships have histories and they change over time, like any living organism. In Long Beach, the researchers observed a "life cycle" that was repeated over the partnership's 20-year history. There have been periodic ups and downs, early wins, strong publicity, subsequent lulls, and restructuring over time. The partnership is currently experiencing a high rate of activity—almost too high a rate, according to one Long Beach executive leader:

I think that's been a bit of a challenge, ... because the level of activity is so high, yet the interconnection between the groups working—that's where we're still struggling sometimes.

In the Inland Empire, although the current two-county partnership is still in its early stages, there is a complex prior history of partnering at sub-regional levels, accompanied by previous barriers to collaboration across the region. An executive leader in the region observed:

Collaboration really is not a natural act. It begins with trusting relationships, but everybody who is part of the relationship needs to get what they need to get, politically, out of the arrangement. Herding all these butterflies and getting them focused and moving in the right direction took time. It really took some serious commitment from all the stakeholders.

One Long Beach leader described the centrality of honesty to the partnership's success, paired with acceptance of institutional politics in all three Long Beach education systems. This was accompanied by a willingness and commitment to put sometimes-conflicting agendas on the table and work through them. This leader noted:

There's a level of acceptance of honesty that we all have agendas we have to deal with, and there's politics. We can put those on the table and work through them.

To some extent, the current executive leaders in Long Beach have reached the point at which they care equally about all three educational institutions and experience a "sense of ownership" of all the students across the region. In some areas of their decision-making and mutual assistance activities, they may be approaching what is hypothesized in partnership research as the third and deepest level of partnerships: "integrative" or "strategic restructuring" (Austin, 2000; La Piana, 2015). As one individual stated, "We are only successful if we are all successful."

FLEXIBILITY AND ADAPTABILITY

While classic institutional program planners rely on the linear development of strategic plans, formalized MOUs, and clear timelines, findings from this study tell a somewhat different story. The researchers found that partnership planning is often an organic, iterative, and shifting process that responds to needs as they emerge and change over time. One Long Beach leader played down the utility of strategic plans that specify operational details. Instead, he emphasized the value of a flexible plan that articulates overarching goals and values while accommodating changing needs. He described:

This partnership between the institutions had been present for 25 years before it was ever really formalized [in its current form]. ... [The current MOU] does not talk about articulation; it does not talk about career pathways. It talks about overall agreement and what it is that we're trying to accomplish. The nitty gritty ... isn't included in the current MOU, [which reflects the fact that] the needs of this community and the needs of this state and the nation change.

An Inland Empire executive leader concurred, stressing the importance of letting a plan evolve over time without imposing a single specific strategic direction. He noted:

I think my point of view would be if you try to over-codify it, you run the danger of snuffing out—you don't want to hold it too tightly. [And] ... you've got to be willing to keep at it a while, because, like anything, you're working in the trenches, and there'll be good days, and there'll be some really bad days. When you get out a year or so, and you look back and where you've come, it's pretty remarkable.

Conclusion

This paper focuses on the key factors in starting and sustaining cross-sector partnerships in education. Drawing from research literature and the research team's studies of two Southern California partnerships, five themes were identified as central to building long-term, resilient partnerships that will substantially improve student outcomes in K-12 schools, community colleges, and universities.

The researchers' investigations revealed that the construction and maintenance of partnerships are neither easy nor simple, but when they are effective, they can bring substantial rewards to students, educators, institutions, and communities. Many of these rewards have already been reaped over the course of the 20-year history of the Long Beach College Promise. Meanwhile, recent efforts in the Inland Empire to build a long-term partnership are addressing not just educational attainment but also economic development and quality of life.

In both regions, cross-sector partnerships offer the potential to advance educational and economic outcomes. However, the development of such partnerships requires all stakeholders to cultivate a "long view"—a perspective that emphasizes a "slow and steady" approach to building relationships, cultivating trust, and facilitating collaboration. Ultimately, partnership initiatives like ones in Long Beach and the Inland Empire may very well demonstrate to leaders, practitioners, government agencies, and private-sector supporters in the field of education and beyond how effective regional collaborations can meet both the educational and economic needs of communities across the nation.

Appendix A: Methodology

Research Methods and Activities

Over an eight-month period in 2016, research for this study was undertaken using a variety of methods to develop an understanding of how intersegmental educational partnerships are developed, launched, and sustained. First, a literature review was initially conducted to develop a foundational knowledge of existing research on cross-sector regional partnerships in education and other related fields. Based on a synthesis of this literature, seven key characteristics were identified as the starting point for the case studies (see Appendix B for a description of these seven key characteristics).

Protocols were then developed and tested for interviewing a wide range of partnership stakeholders, after which potential interview subjects were identified. As interviews progressed, the researchers employed a "snowball" sampling method, through which individuals were asked during site visits to suggest other people for the researchers to interview. Ultimately, a total of 41 interviews were conducted with participants who worked at differing levels in the two partnerships. The 41 interviews were transcribed and coded employing an open coding procedure. Codes were then clustered, and emergent themes were identified.

Additionally, site visits to institutions participating in both partnerships were conducted in order to observe partnership activities on multiple occasions. The researchers also visited two Long Beach Pathways events as well as one leadership summit in the Inland Empire. Furthermore, they participated in two convenings of projects that were funded through the Governor's Innovation Award, which provided additional opportunities to talk to teams from the two regions. Finally, numerous documents, demographic data, academic outcome data, and other information sources were collected and reviewed from both partnerships.

After research activities were concluded, the researchers "reinvented" the seven categories initially identified from the literature, morphing them into nine themes: five factors associated with successfully starting a partnership ("starters") and four associated with sustaining one ("sustainers"). More specifically, "starters" are factors that can influence the initiation of partnerships, while "sustainers" are elements that can affect continuing partnership operation and growth. The starters and sustainers identified comprise the following:

	Starters	Sustainers
1.	Leadership	1. Strategies
2.	Drivers and incentives	2. Communication
3.	Resources	3. Data
4.	Relationships	4. Sustaining partnerships
5.	Looking inward, looking	
	outward	

By further considering existing research literature as well as comparing and contrasting the two regional cases, these nine starter and sustainer factors were ultimately collapsed into five key findings:

- 1. Leadership
- 2. Understanding change
- 3. Relationships
- 4. Effective use of data and evidence
- 5. Organizational coherence

Research Team

ROBERT GABRINER, LEAD RESEARCHER

Dr. Robert Gabriner is the Co-Director of the Leading from the Middle program of the Research and Planning Group for California Community Colleges. He is a professor of educational leadership at San Francisco State University (SFSU), where he directed the university's doctoral program in Educational Leadership for Community Colleges and Schools from 2009 to 2016. Additionally, Dr. Gabriner has worked with California Community Colleges for 39 years as a faculty member, administrator, and statewide leader. Prior to his employment at SFSU, Dr. Gabriner was City College of San Francisco's Dean of Research, Planning and Grants and then its Vice Chancellor for Institutional Advancement.

Dr. Gabriner's most recent publications include a book-length study conducted in collaboration with Dr. Norton Grubb of the University of California, Berkeley, entitled *Basic Skills in Community Colleges—Inside and Outside of Classrooms* (New York: Routledge, 2013), as well as *Basic Skills as a Foundation for Student Success in California Community Colleges* (San Francisco: Research and Planning Group for California Community Colleges, 2007).

ROSE ASERA

Rose Asera, Ph.D., is an applied qualitative researcher and evaluator who currently works with the Research and Planning Group for California Community Colleges. From 2000-2010, she was a Senior Scholar at the Carnegie Foundation for the Advancement of Teaching where she directed the Strengthening Pre-Collegiate Education in Community Colleges Project. Previously, she worked with Professor Uri Treisman as Director of Research and Evaluation at the Charles A. Dana Center for Mathematics and Science Education at the University of California, Berkeley, and later at University of Texas, Austin. Dr. Asera was also a Fulbright Scholar at the Institute of Teacher Education Kyambogo and worked with UNICEF in Kampala, Uganda.

DAVID HEMPHILL

Dr. David Hemphill has been a professor and administrator for over 33 years in the Graduate College of Education at San Francisco State University. His work focuses on cultural studies, multicultural and international education, critical theory, adult education, literacy, second language acquisition, and qualitative research methods. He has pioneered multiple doctoral and international program initiatives. He is also the author of five books on language, literacy, technology, globalization, and popular culture, as well as numerous articles and monographs. Prior to his work at SFSU, Dr. Hemphill was a language teacher and program director in organizations serving Asian immigrants.

Appendix B: Key Elements of Partnership Frameworks

The researchers conducted an analysis of multiple conceptual frameworks found in literature that described successful partnerships and networks. In particular, the following literature sources were found to be most relevant and useful to the study (see References for full citations):

- Innovation Leadership Diagnostic Rubric (U.S. Education Delivery Institute, 2016)
- *Collective Impact* (Kania & Kramer, 2011)
- Education Collaborative Assessment Rubric (EdCAR) (Alliance for Regional Collaboratives to Heighten Educational Success, 2016)
- Strategic Collaboration between Nonprofits and Business (Austin, 2000)
- *The Collaborative Map* (La Piana Consulting, 2015)
- 5 Essential Partnership Elements (Kisker & Carducci, 2003)
- Best Practices of P-20 Partnerships for Increasing College Access and Persistence for Under-Represented Students (Cevallos, 2003)

Out of an analysis of these sources, the researchers identified seven key components of effective partnership frameworks that were described in most, if not all, of the literature studied. These partnership elements are summarized below.

1. COMMON AGENDA—FOCUS ON STUDENT NEEDS

A clearly stated and agreed-upon common focus on student needs is characteristic shared among most successful partnerships. Plainly verbalizing the motivation and context for partnering, based upon the recognition of a community need that calls for joint action, is extremely important. Establishing shared missions and goals that frame specific outcomes is also essential.

2. COMMITTED LEADERSHIP AND THE PRESENCE OF CHAMPIONS

The importance of strong leadership at multiple levels, in particular executive- and middle-level leadership, is consistently highlighted in literature that analyzes effective partnerships. So too is the importance of "champions"—individuals who consistently and conscientiously take on the long-term, hard work of partnering and act as strong advocates.

3. USE OF APPROPRIATE ORGANIZATIONAL MODELS

The particular configuration of partnerships is also quite important to their success. Organizational structures that promote shared governance and mutual accountability among partners are key, as are backbone support organizations that facilitate the logistics of partnership work.

4. PARTNERSHIP DEVELOPMENT ALONG A CONTINUUM OF COLLABORATION

Some researchers see increasingly integrative states of partnerships that develop along a three-level continuum:

- 1. Philanthropic/collaborative—limited collaboration and isolated joint actions;
- 2. Transactional/alliance—joint programming, consolidation of shared activities; and
- 3. Integrative/strategic—restructuring: missions, people, and activities merge into a kind of joint venture.

Many successful partnerships are able to progress along this continuum and in doing so, strengthen both their efforts and outcomes by cultivating increasingly deeper and broader modes of collaboration.

5. ACTION IMPLEMENTATION AND DELIVERY

Implementation of coordinated, joint actions characterizes successful partnerships, such as the execution of sustained activities that focus on priority areas in order to enhance student outcomes across the multiple sectors comprising the P-20 education system.

6. INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL COMMUNICATION

Effective framing and communication of partnership purposes and activities to both internal and external audiences is essential. These audiences may include education leadership, faculty, staff, students, and their families, as well as policymakers and regional businesses, public agencies, nonprofit organizations, and/or funders.

7. DATA AND EVALUATION

The effective use of timely, accurate, actionable information positively impacts decision-making and helps solve problems. As such, the collection, analysis, and subsequent action upon formative and summative evaluation data should take place regularly on an institutional and cross-partnership level.

References

Publications

Alliance for Regional Collaboratives to Heighten Educational Success (ARCHES) (2016). *Education collaborative assessment rubric (EdCAR)*. Sacramento, CA: ARCHES.

Austin, J.E. (2000). Strategic collaboration between nonprofits and business. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, 29(1), Supplement 2000, 69-97.

Bailey, T. and Jaggars, S. (2016). *When community college students start behind*. New York: Columbia University Teachers College, Community College Research Center. http://ccrc.tc.columbia.edu/publications/when-college-students-start-behind.html

Brunt, L., Lerner, J., & Nicholas, T. (2012). Inducement prizes and innovation. *The Journal of Industrial Economics*, 40(4), 657-696.

Business Higher Education Forum (BHEF) (2009) *Improving education through collaboration:* A case study of the Long Beach Seamless Education Partnership. http://www.bhef.com/publications/improving-education-through-collaboration-case-study-long-beach-seamless-education

Cevallos, L. (2013). Best practices of P-20 partnerships for increasing college access and persistence for under-represented students. (Doctoral dissertation, UCLA).

Community College League of California (CCLC) (2016). *California community college chief executive officer (CEO) tenure and retention study 2013-2014*. CSU Long Beach, https://www.CSU-LB .edu/, retrieved 12/15/16.

Community College League of California (2012). *CEO tenure and retention study, 6th update*. Sacramento, CA: Community College League of California.

Dougherty, K.J., Natow, R.S., & Vega, B.E. (2012). Popular but unstable: Explaining why state performance funding systems in the United States often do not persist. *Teachers College Record*, 114(3), 1-41.

Eddy, P.L. & Amey, M.J. (2011) *Bridges across the P-16 continuum: The role of educational partnerships*. Champaign, IL: Office of Community College Research and Leadership, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign.

Faste, R. A. (2001). The human challenge in engineering design. *International Journal of Engineering Education*, 17(4/5), 327-331.

Geertz, C. (1973). The interpretation of cultures: Selected essays. New York: Basic Books, Inc.

Grady, M.; Rothman, R.; Smith, H. (2015). A "seamless" education within Long Beach city limits: Engaging cities—How municipal leaders can mobilize communities to improve public schools. Providence, RI: Brown University, Annenberg Institute for School Reform. http://annenberginstitute.org/sites/default/files/product/223/files/NLC_Engaging_Long%20Beach.pdf

- Haley, L. A. (2015). *Best practice highlight: Long Beach and Fresno Unified Schools*. http://californiacentral.usc.edu/establishing-a-culture-of-continuous-improvement/.
- Henig, J.R., Riehl, C.J., Rebell, M.A., & Wolff, J.R. (2015). *Putting collective impact in context: A review of the literature on local cross-sector collaboration to improve education.* New York, NY: Teachers College, Columbia University, Department of Education Policy and Social Analysis.
- Honig, M.I. (2001). *Managing from the middle: The role of intermediary organizations in the implementation of complex education policy*. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Educational Research Association, Seattle.
- Kania, J., & Kramer, M. (2011). Collective impact. *Stanford Social Innovation Review*, 9(1), 36-41.
- Katz, B. & Bradley, J. (2013). *The metropolitan revolution: How cities and metros are vising our broken politics and fragile economy.* Washington, DC: Brookings Institution Press.
- Kay, L. (2011). The effect of inducement prizes on innovation: Evidence from the Ansari X Prize and the Northrop Grumman Lunar Lander Challenge. *R&D Management*, *41*(2), 360-377.
- Kay, L. (2012). Opportunities and challenges in the use of innovation prizes as a government policy instrument. *Minerva*, 50(2), 191-196.
- Kelley, T. & Kelley, D. (2013). *Creative confidence: Unleashing the creative potential within us all.* New York: Crown Business.
- Kisker, C.B. & Carducci, R. (2003). UCLA community college review: Community college partnerships with private sector organizational contexts and models for successful collaboration. *Community College Review*, 31(3), 55-74.
- Kirp, D. (2015). Giving it that new college try. New York Times, Nov. 15, 2015.
- La Piana Consulting (2015). *The collaborative map*. Emeryville, CA: La Piana Consulting.
- Long Beach College Promise. *5-year progress report* (2008-2013): A breakthrough in student achievement. http://www.longbeachcollegepromise.org/reports/
- Mongeau, L. (2016). The Long Beach miracle: How the working class California city saved its schools, *The Atlantic*, Feb. 2, 2016. <a href="http://www.theatlantic.com/education/archive/2016/02/the-long-beach-miracle/459315/?single_page=true&print="http://www.theatlantic.com/education/archive/2016/02/the-long-beach-miracle/459315/?single_page=true&print="https://www.theatlantic.com/education/archive/2016/02/the-long-beach-miracle/459315/?single_page=true&print="https://www.theatlantic.com/education/archive/2016/02/the-long-beach-miracle/459315/?single_page=true&print="https://www.theatlantic.com/education/archive/2016/02/the-long-beach-miracle/459315/?single_page=true&print="https://www.theatlantic.com/education/archive/2016/02/the-long-beach-miracle/459315/?single_page=true&print="https://www.theatlantic.com/education/archive/2016/02/the-long-beach-miracle/459315/?single_page=true&print="https://www.theatlantic.com/education/archive/2016/02/the-long-beach-miracle/459315/?single_page=true&print="https://www.theatlantic.com/education/archive/2016/02/the-long-beach-miracle/459315/?single_page=true&print="https://www.theatlantic.com/education/archive/2016/02/the-long-beach-miracle/459315/?single_page=true&print="https://www.theatlantic.com/education/archive/2016/02/the-long-beach-miracle/459315/?single_page=true&print="https://www.theatlantic.com/education/archive/2016/02/the-long-beach-miracle/459315/?single_page=true&print="https://www.theatlantic.com/education/archive/2016/02/the-long-beach-miracle/459315/?single_page=true&print="https://www.theatlantic.com/education/archive/2016/02/the-long-beach-miracle/459315/?single_page=true&print="https://www.theatlantic.com/education/archive/2016/02/the-long-beach-miracle/459315/?single_page=true&print="https://www.theatlantic.com/education/archive/2016/02/the-long-beach-miracle/459315/?single_page=true&print="https://www.theatlantic.com/education/archive/2016/02/the-long-beach-miracle/459315/?single_page=tru
- Moore, C., Venezia, A., Lewis, J., & Lefkowitz, B. (2015). *Organizing for success: California's regional education partnerships*. Sacramento, CA: Education Insights Center, California State University, Sacramento.
- Nation, M., Collins, L., Nixon, C., Bess, K., Rogers, S., Williams, N., & Juarez, P. (2010). A community-based participatory approach to youth development and school climate change: The Alignment Enhanced Services project. *Progress in Community Health Partnerships: Research, Education, and Action, 4*(3), Fall 2010, 197-205.
- Ruhl, A., (2015). LBUSD graduation rates improve for third consecutive year. *Gazettes: Long Beach's Favorite Community Website*, April 2015. http://www.gazettes.com/news/lbusd-graduation-rates-improve-for-third-consecutive-year/article_06c2a66e-ee0c-11e4-b093-9b4cb7a3ec96.html

Rutherford, A. & Rabovsky, T. (2014). Evaluating impacts of performance funding policies on student outcomes in higher education. *ANNALS, AAPSS, 655*, September 2014, 185-208.

Szanton, P.L. (2003). Toward more effective use of intermediaries. Foundation Center.

Tagg, J. (2012). Why does the faculty resist change? *Change: The Magazine of Higher Learning*, 44(1), 6-15.

U.S. Education Delivery Institute (EDI) (2016). *Innovation leadership diagnostic rubric*. Washington, DC: EDI.

Wagner, E.B. (2011). Why prize? The surprising resurgence of prizes to stimulate innovation. *Research • Technology Management*, November-December, 2011, 32-36.

Will, M. (2014). Average urban school superintendent tenure decreases, survey shows. *Education Week*, November 6, 2014.

http://blogs.edweek.org/edweek/District_Dossier/2014/11/urban_school_superintendent_te.html

Online Resources

California Community College Chancellor's Office Score Card. http://scorecard.ccco.edu/scorecard.aspx

California State University, Long Beach, https://www.CSU-LB .edu/, retrieved 12/15/16.

Census.gov Quickfacts, http://www.census.gov/quickfacts/table/PST045215/0643000, retrieved 12/15/16.

College Futures Foundation, https://collegefutures.org/2016/05/a-bold-vision-for-supporting-innovation-in-higher-education/.

Ed Data, http://www.ed-data.org/county/, retrieved, 12/15/16.

Institute of Design at Stanford, dschool.stanford.edu, retrieved 12/15/16.

Linked Learning, http://www.linkedlearning.org/about/, retrieved 12/15/16.

Live Well Long Beach,

http://www.livewelllongbeach.org/index.php?module=DemographicData&type=user&func=ddview&varset=1&ve=text&pct=2&levels=1, retrieved 12/15/26

Long Beach City College, http://www.lbcc.edu/promisepathways/, retrieved 12/15/16.

Long Beach College Promise, http://www.longbeachcollegepromise.org/, http://www.longbeachcollegepromise.org/, http://www.longbeachcollegepromise.org/, http://www.longbeachcollegepromise.org/,

Long Beach Unified School District, http://www.lbusd.k12.ca.us/,

http://www.lbusd.k12.ca.us/Departments/Newsroom/article.cfm?articleID=2005,

http://www.lbusd.k12.ca.us/District/accolades.cfm,

http://www.lbusd.k12.ca.us/Departments/Linked Learning/, retrieved 12/15/16.

Point2homes, http://www.point2homes.com/US/Neighborhood/CA/Long-Beach-Demographics.html, retrieved 12/15/16.

Public Policy Institute of California, Key California Stats – Educational Attainment, http://www.ppic.org/main/keystat.asp?i=1264, retrieved 12/15/16.

Research and Planning Group for California Community Colleges (RP Group) Multiple Measures Assessment Project, http://rpgroup.org/Our-Projects/All-Projects/ctl/ArticleView/mid/1686/articleId/118/Multiple-Measures-Assessment-Project-MMAP